RECEIVED

Aug 25 2020

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Deidre L. Jefferson, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2019-001193

Terrell L. McCoy, #256070 Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina, Respondent.

AMENDED PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

Clarissa Warren Joyner
P.O. Box 1724
Orangeburg, South Carolina 29115
(803)534-8393
Attorney for Petitioner

Other Counsel of Record:
Benjamin H. Limbaugh
Assistant Attorney General
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3737
Attorney for Respondent

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

1. Did the Circuit Court err in granting Summary Judgement wherein Petitioner was barred from going forward with his ineffective assistance of counsel action (PCR) against Petitioner's trial counsel Lorelle Proctor when Petitioner was given erroneous advice regarding self-representation and the consequences of proceeding *pro se* at his trial on January 27, 2009?
2. Did the circuit court err in refusing to allow petitioner to represent himself during the PCR hearing held on December 14, 2015 when PCR counsel refused to admit petitioners prepared memorandum of law, failed to admit as an exhibit trial counsel Lorelle Proctor's Rule 5 discovery request, and failed to subpoena trial counsel to the PCR hearing to testify that she had requested discovery, more specifically the 911 tape on several occasions, all before the 911 tape had been destroyed by North Charleston Police department such that a hearing should have been held pursuant to Faretta v. California, 422 US 806, 95 S.Ct., 45 L.Ed 562 (1975)?
3. Did the circuit judge err in finding that Petitioner's appellate counsel, Robert Dudek, was not ineffective when appellate counsel only raised one issue in petitioner's appellate brief, the issue of self-representation, when in fact several viable substantive issues had been raised and the issues had been contemporaneously preserved by Petitioner during his trial and petitioner repeatedly discussed the appellate issues that he had preserved during the trial with Appellate counsel?
4. Did the circuit judge err in finding that petitioner's appellate counsel was not ineffective when appellate counsel did not raise a violation of Maryland v. Brady in violation of South Carolina Rules of Criminal Procedure Rule 5 in Petitioner's Appellate brief wherein the State violated Brady and did not provide Petitioner a 911 tape that was in the possession of North Charleston Police Department and the existence of which was imputed to the Charleston County Solicitor handling Petitioner's prosecution that was material and exculpatory for impeachment purposes in Petitioner's defense and the Brady violation was prejudicial to Petitioner's case because the outcome of Petitioner's presentation of his defense would have been different if the 911 tape had been provided to Petitioner when Petitioner raised the issue during his trial and preserved the issue for appellate review?

5. Did the circuit judge err in finding that petitioner's appellate counsel was not ineffective when appellate counsel did not raise a violation of Petitioner's due process right to a fair trial under the Fifth Amendment of the U S Constitution, Article I Section III of the South Carolina State Constitution when the trial judge sustained the State's objection to the 911 Dispatchers log prejudicing Petitioner and preventing him from being able to impeach the State's primary witness and present his defense that the 911 caller indicated that the facts of the incident could not have happened as the State's witness Corinda Snowden testified to the jury thereby impeaching her testimony and exonerating Petitioner in the case when Petitioner raised the issue during his trial and preserved the issue for appellate review?
6. Did the circuit court err in finding that Petitioner's appellate counsel was not ineffective when appellate counsel did not raise a Batson v. Kentucky issue when Petitioner argued that the State's use of preemptory challenges to strike two jurors of the same racial composition of Petitioner, but did not use preemptory challenges to strike two Caucasian jurors similarly situated and that the State's justification for striking the African American jurors was not, in fact, race neutral when Petitioner raised the issue during his trial and preserved the issue for appellate review?
7. Did the circuit court err in finding that Petitioner's appellate counsel was not ineffective when appellate counsel did not raise the issue of bad faith on the part of the State and North Charleston Police department under Arizona v. Youngblood when Petitioner raised and preserved the issue during trial that North Charleston police officer Angela Bunker had failed to preserve valuable exculpatory evidence in the form of DNA from blood evidence found at the scene of the incident?
8. Did the Circuit court err in finding that Petitioner's appellate counsel was not ineffective in raising the issue of a prejudicial witness identification when Petitioner objected to the witness identification during her testimony and moved to exclude her testimony raising the issue and preserving the issue for appellate review?
9. Did the circuit court err in finding petitioners appellate counsel was not ineffective when appellate counsel did not raise the issue of the denial of petitioners request for a voluntary manslaughter charge when there was, in fact, evidence in the record that factually support the charge being given to the jury when Petitioner raised the issue during his trial and preserved the issue for appellate review?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE
Procedural History

On July 2006, a Charleston County Grand Jury Indicted Petitioner for Murder. (2006-GS-10-4987). On July 15, 2008, Petitioner, while represented by Lorelle Proctor, went to trial, however the jury was unable to reach a verdict and a mistrial was declared. On January 27, 2009 and January 28, 2009, the Honorable Markley Dennis signed Orders Relieving Lorelle Proctor and allowing Petitioner to proceed *pro se*.(App I. page 4-5) On February 2, 2009, Petitioner's second trial began. Petitioner represented himself with Lorelle Proctor as stand-by counsel. The jury convicted Petitioner of Murder. Petitioner was sentenced to fifty (50) years imprisonment,. Ultimately, his sentenced was reduced to forty (40) years imprisonment. (App IV, page 735-736).

A timely Notice of Intent to Appeal was filed. (App IV, page 737) Robert M. Dudek, Esquire of the South Carolina Office of Appellate Defense was appointed to represent Petitioner and perfected Petitioner's appeal. (App IV, page 743-787) Petitioner's conviction and sentence was affirmed by the S.C. Court of Appeals in State v. McCoy, No. 2011-UP-471 (S.C. Ct. App. Filed October 26, 2011)(App IV, page 788-789). Mr. Dudek filed a Petition for Rehearing which was denied on December 19, 2011. (App IV, page 790). Petitioner filed a Writ of Certiorari in the S.C. Supreme Court which was denied on March 6, 2013. (App IV, page 797).

Petitioner filed an Application for Post Conviction Relief on April 4, 2013.(App IV, page 798). Petitioner alleged that trial counsel, Lorelle Proctor, was ineffective before she was relieved as counsel, and that she gave erroneous advice which led to his *pro se* representation before she was relieved as counsel, and she failed to subpoena witnesses as directed. (App IV, page 798-815, 831-

834, App. V., pages 868-870). Petitioner alleged Appellate counsel was ineffective during his appellate process. (App IV, page 804-807). On May 19, 2014, the State filed a Return to Petitioner's PCR application. (App V, page 767-877).

Petitioners first PCR hearing was held on September 9, 2015. (App. V, page 896-917) The Honorable Larry B. Hyman issued an Order granting the State's Summary Judgement Motion, thereby dismissing Petitioner's PCR action against his trial/ stand- by counsel Lorelle Proctor, but allowed Petitioner to proceed forward on the remainder of the issues. (App V, page 914, lines 12-19, page 923, lines 15-24, page 926, lines 2-8). Petitioner's second PCR evidentiary hearing was held in front of the Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson on December 14, 2015. (App. V, page 920-1004) Mr. Dudek testified by telephone. (App. V, page 940) Petitioner was represented by Rodney Davis, Esquire at the second PCR hearing. Petitioner moved to represent himself during the hearing based on the presentation of his case by Mr. Davis. (App. V, page 936-938, 987, line 25, 988, lines 1-25, 989, lines 1-8). Petitioner's request for self-representation during the hearing was denied, however Petitioner filed a Motion to Relieve Mr. Davis on January 8, 2016. (App V, page 1006) Petitioner hired Melisa W. Gay, Esquire to represent him during the balance of his PCR action. A Substitution Order was filed on March 26, 2016. (App. V, page 1011). Judge Jefferson issued a Final Order denying Petitioner's PCR application on May 5, 2016. (App. V, page 1012-1023) Petitioner, through counsel, filed a Motion to Clarify Order under Rule 59(e). (App. V, page 1025-1029) The State filed a Response to Motion to Clarify. (App. V, page 1031-1032) The Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson denied the Rule 59(e) motion, and failed to make specific findings of facts and conclusions of law relating to all issues addressed in Petitioner's PCR application. (App. V, page 1053-1055) Petitioner filed a Notice of Intent to Appeal on March 8, 2017 (App. V, page 1063) and this Court

issued an Order on February 1, 2019 finding that the PCR judge's orders denying Petitioner's PCR application and his Rule 59(e) motion did not comply with the law. (App. V, page 1067-1069) This Court ruled that the orders did not rule on the merits of all the issues properly presented. (App. V, page 1067). This Court vacated the orders dismissing Petitioner's PCR application and denying the Rule 59 (e) motion, and remanded the case back to the PCR judge to issue an order that contains specific findings on each of the allegations raised by Petitioner at the PCR hearing and in his Rule 59 (e) motion. (App. V, page 1068) This Court mandated that the new PCR order shall be issued within thirty (30) days of the date of its February 1, 2019 Order. (App. V, page 1068) The Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson issued her Amended Order of Dismissal and Amended Order Denying Applicant's Motion to Alter or Amend on June 14, 2019. (App. V, page 1070-1103). Petitioner filed another 59 (e) Motion on July 30, 2019, and Judge Jefferson issued an Order Denying Applicant's Motion to Alter/Amend on August 29, 2019. (App. V, page 1104-1118). Notice of Appeal was timely filed by Petitioner seeking a writ of certiorari to review this denial.

Statement of Facts

When Petitioner's PCR case was heard in Charleston County before the Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson, Petitioner's appellate counsel, Mr. Dudek, testified for the State at the hearing. (App. V, page 940). He defended his decision to file a brief with only one issue. In response to State's question regarding his evaluation of Petitioner's legal issues, Mr. Dudek testified that he would have reviewed the entire transcript. (App. page 941, line 16). He acknowledged that he and Petitioner had "on going communication between us" (App. page 941, 23-25). "He would go along with Petitioner's memory to any specific requests to issues being raised (App. Page 942, lines 7-9). Dudek

testified that he decided that self-representation should not have been allowed because Petitioner did not adequately appreciate the dangers of self-representation. (App. Page 941. lines 4-17). Judge Jefferson inquired of Dudek about his decision. He testified, “Yes sir, that was the only ground.” (App. Page 941, line 13). Dudek testified, “I would have thought that the only issue that gave us the chance, and the best chance to win on was him being allowed to represent himself at trial.”(App. Page 950, lines 15-18). The State asked Mr. Dudek “you have a duty as an attorney to raise non frivolous issues” and his response was “ my duty as an appellate lawyer is to raise the issue or issues that I think give us the best shot of prevailing on.” (App. Page 952, lines 3-7).

When asked about other issues in the trial transcript, appellate counsel did not recall an issue in the transcript about a 911 tape recording that was held outside the presence of the jury (App. Page 944, lines 6-18). With regard to Petitioner’s assertion that the failure to provide a 911 tape to Petitioner in his case was a violation of Maryland v. Brady, appellate counsel was asked by the State “if there were items of evidence that the Defendant requested from the state and it was not provided, would you agree that’s a Brady violation” (App. Page 945, lines 10-13). Mr. Dudek responded with an explanation of the duty of the state to provide evidence to defendants and stated, “...if it would have assisted his defense whatever the evidence was, yes I would agree with that.” (App. Page 945, lines 20-23). Dudek testified in response to a question from the State about the prosecution’s actual possession of evidence. Dudek’s response to the scenario is “well, I guess I partially agree with that. I mean, evidence in the possession as I understand the law evidence in the possession of say the police department that was helping with the prosecution or the investigating police officer, that evidence is imputed to the state or to the solicitor is my understanding of the law. (App. Page 953, lines 19-25).

PCR counsel Davis cross-examined Dudek about Petitioner's Brady issue. He introduced Petitioner's Exhibit 1, Affidavit of Chris Neeley of North Charleston Legal Department, a document verifying the existence of the 911 tape in Petitioner's case. (App. Page 958, lines 8-15). The exhibit confirmed that a 911 tape had been generated from March 25, 2006 at the time of the shooting. (App. Page 958, lines 20-21, App. Page 959, lines 7-9). Judge Jefferson intimated that the existence of the Affidavit should have been related to a direct appeal (on the Brady issue) (App. Page 959, lines 1-2). The State stated, "I still don't think that it shows anything that could not have been raised on direct appeal, " wherein Judge Jefferson stated, "I agree". (App. Page 959, line 3)

During PCR hearing, Judge Jefferson went into a colloquy regarding Petitioner and Petitioner's trial/stand by counsel's efforts to obtain the 911 tape during the course of Petitioner's case. Judge Jefferson stated, "I would have imagined that Ms. Proctor would have asked for the 911 tape originally. Did she not? " (App. Page 960, lines 5-7). She went on to say "the state would have produced it at the time of the original trial, didn't they?" (App. Page 960, lines 4-8). PCR counsel Davis responded "it was never produced, Your Honor" . (App. Page 960, lines 9-10).

Petitioner testified at his PCR hearing. He testified that during Lorelle Proctor's initial representation, she filed a discovery Motion on March 30, 2006 that was served upon the solicitor in his case on April 10, 2006. (App. Page 965, lines 19-21). Petitioner attempted to admit a copy of the Motion filed by Ms. Proctor, however Judge Jefferson would not allow Petitioner to admit the document and chided Petitioner for his attempt to represent himself at the PCR hearing (App. Page 965, lines 24-25, App. Page 966, lines 1-4). The document was never admitted into the PCR hearing record based on the confusion from the Judge. The Rule 5 Motion was however attached to Petitioner's PCR application pursuant to S.C. Code of Laws § 17-27-45(c) and 17-27-50.

Petitioner testified that he believed he had a valid Brady issue for appeal. During the trial, he attempted to admit a document from North Charleston a Dispatch Log CAD report of the 911 call regarding the shooting incident for which he was charged. Petitioner believed that the State had failed to provide him with the 911 tape in violation of Brady. During trial, Petitioner had attempted to admit into evidence the CAD log as comparable evidence to the 911 tape under the excited utterance exception to the hearsay rule, Rule 803 (1) & (2), SCRE. The Judge sustained the State's objection although stand-by counsel explained that she requested the 911 tape before the police destroyed it. (App. Pages 639-644) . During the PCR hearing, PCR counsel asked Petitioner, "let me ask you about that report. Did you attempt to admit that report into evidence? Yes sir, I tried to admit it into evidence and the state objected to it as being hearsay. It was the only evidence that we had to show the judge that there existed a 911 tape." (App. Page 968, lines 12-18, App. Pages 641, lines 1-25). Petitioner testified that he was aware that the "the 911 tape was destroyed two months and 15 days after his lawyer had requested it. That clearly raised a violation that was preserved for the record" (App. Page 971, lines 9-12). Petitioner testified that the State's witness Corinda Snowden/Williams gave testimony at his trial (App. Page 186 -206), and he should have been able to impeach her testimony with the 911CAD log . (App. Page 178, lines 11-25, App. Page 180, lines 1-16,). Petitioner testified in response to the State's question that the witness Corinda Snowden Williams first statement which was corroborated by the 911 tape recording was truth. (App. Page 968, lines 20-24). Petitioner believed that Ms. Williams first statement is consistent with the 911 tape that was not provided to him by the State.

Judge Jefferson erroneously responded about Petitioner's trial transcript, "he would have had to have raised that at the time of trial. We don't get to recreate the record." (App. Page 971, lines 15-

17). This statement is not consistent with the trial record, because Petitioner did, in fact, raise and preserve the issue of the 911 tape and the CAD report. For these reasons, the State did not perform its duty of disclosing the exculpatory evidence when a timely request was made for the 911 tapes four (4) days after Petitioner's arrest, and later destroyed. PCR counsel Davis explained to the Judge that the issue was raised and ruled on, but appellate counsel did not raise the issue during direct appeal which demonstrated appellate counsel's ineffectiveness. (App. Page 957-962).

Petitioner testified that there was other evidence of a Brady violation in his trial. He testified that blood evidence was not collected therefore no DNA evidence was available. "There was a lot of evidence, blood evidence that was left on the crime scene that was not collected." (App. Page 971, lines 1-3). Petitioner maintained this denied him his due process right to test potentially exculpatory evidence pursuant to Arizona v. Youngblood. (App. Page 971, lines 1-3). PCR counsel Davis stated that Officer Bunker of North Charleston Police Department testified in the trial. In the trial, she testified about what was collected and what was not collected. (App. Page 974, lines 3-7, App. Page 396-407). In fact, Charleston County coroner Rae Wooten testified about the conditions of the crime scene also. (App. Page 530 - 535). PCR counsel argued that tangible biological evidence that was at the scene that was not obtained by law enforcement and submitted for testing was unlike other items that were submitted for testing. (App. Pages 592-596).

Petitioner testified that he raised other substantive issues during his trial that should have been briefed in his appellate case. Petitioner testified that he raised an objection to the jury instructions. He asked for a lesser included charge of voluntary manslaughter. The trial judge denied his request. He believes that he preserved the issue for appeal (app. Page 981, lines 13-18). The State questioned appellate counsel about the voluntary manslaughter jury charge. Petitioner

testified that where the judge's failure to give a lesser included (voluntary manslaughter instruction) when available, was not done, both prongs of Strickland have been met. (App. Page 990, lines 1-5).

Petitioner testified about a Batson v. Kentucky violation in his trial. "Batson was not raised by appellate counsel. I made an objection to the solicitor striking all black jurors and seating all white jurors I objected and the judge denied." (app. Page 982, lines 13-16). Petitioner testified that the "gender neutral explanation given by the state was mere pretext pursuant to Batson v. Kentucky (App. Page 983, lines 1-5)

During the PCR hearing, Petitioner became dissatisfied with PCR counsel Davis because of his failure to admit the Rule 5 Motion filed on March 30, 2006 into evidence and his failure to examine Lorelle Proctor concerning her actions before she was relieved as counsel, his failure to subpoena Greg Voigt, and his failure to subpoena dispatcher Jenny Fowler, and his failure to argue newly acquired evidence. He stated "at this time I would like to fire my attorney and proceed *pro se*." Judge Jefferson responded "No sir that request is denied." (App. Page 987, lines 21-25, App Page 988, lines 1-3).

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