STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Charleston County
Deadra L. Jefferson, Post-Conviction Relief Judge
Roger M. Young, Sr., Trial Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-001193

RECEIVED

Jun 26 2020

S.C. SUPREME COURT

TERRELL L. MCCOY, SCDC #256070,

PETITIONER,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

BENJAMIN LIMBAUGH
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar # 103334

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, S.C. 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

Here, Petitioner argues Judge Jefferson failed to recognize his validly preserved and articulated appellate issue such that denying relief on the basis of ineffective assistance of appellate counsel was an error of law. However, the PCR Court properly recognized that Appellate Counsel's performance was not deficient in any way nor was Petitioner prejudiced by Appellate Counsel's performance. Appellate Counsel exercised his professional discretion in his

decision to raise the most viable issue. Petitioner contends that failure to allow him to admit the dispatcher CAD log was a violation of due process clause of the Fifth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Article 1 Section 3 of the South Carolina State Constitution, this allegation is wholly without merit. During the trial, Judge Young informed Petitioner he could not bring someone in to read the dispatch log. Petitioner insisted that he wanted the tape to be heard, but at the time of trial, the tape was not in existence and could not be heard. App. p. 641, lines 21-25 and App p. 644, lines 1-7. Thus, not only was appellate counsel not deficient for failing to raise the issue on appeal, appellate counsel could not in fact raise the issue as it was not properly preserved. Petitioner argues, and the lower court found, the issue was properly preserved; however, Petitioner did not attempt to introduce the CAD report at trial and the trial court never ruled that he could not do so. Appellate Counsel testified at the evidentiary hearing that in order for the issue to be properly preserved Petitioner would have needed to ask that the document be admitted and if it was not admitted that it be made a court's exhibit. App. pp. 944, ln. 25; pp. 945, ln. 1-5. As noted above, Petitioner insisted that he wanted the actual 911 call to be played for the jury or that the dispatcher who took the call be allowed to testify as to its contents. Therefore, appellate counsel was not deficient even if the issue had been preserved, however the issue was also not likely properly preserved for appellate review.

Further, Petitioner has failed to meet his burden in proving that any prejudice resulted from the alleged deficiency. Petitioner argues that the CAD report could have been used to impeach witness Snowden, showing that the events did not take place as she testified. First, the CAD report is not part of this record, therefore, this Court has no way of definitively knowing what it may contain. The only information as to the contents of the report is found in the discussions had during trial. Petitioner argued the CAD report would impeach Snowden in that it would show

that the 911 caller was female and not male. The State elaborated that Petitioner asked the State to stipulate that the caller was female, she advised she heard someone banging on the door, the door flew open, and a black male was shot. App. pp. 643, ln. 6-12. None of this information is exculpatory to Petitioner or would have impeached Snowden in a meaningful way. Therefore, Petitioner has failed to meet his burden in showing any prejudice resulting from the alleged deficiency.

Moreover, when given the option to read on the record the contents of the dispatcher's log, Petitioner insisted that he wanted the actual tape to be played in court. However, the tape no longer existed so it could not be heard in court. Appellate Counsel did not brief this issue because in his professional judgment it was not a winnable issue. Therefore, the PCR Court did not err in finding that Appellate Counsel's performance was not deficient.

C. The PCR Court correctly found Appellate Counsel was not ineffective for failing to raise a Batson v. Kentucky⁴ issue where the State's striking of jurors was in fact race neutral.

Petitioner argues the State's striking of African-American jurors was not race neutral, and Appellate Counsel failed to raise the issue on appeal despite Petitioner raising and preserving the issue for appellate review. However, because the State's striking of the jurors was race-neutral, Petitioner would not have prevailed on this issue on appeal. Therefore, the PCR Court correctly denied relief as to this issue, and this Court should deny certiorari.

When reviewing a trial court's decision on a Batson motion, appellate courts give great deference to the trial judge's decision and will review it using a clearly erroneous standard. See State v. Edwards, 384 S.C. 504, 682 S.E.2d 820 (2009). "A finding is clearly erroneous if it is not supported by the record." State v. Shuler, 344 S.C. 604, 545 S.E.2d 805 (2001). The Equal

⁴ Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79 (1986).

Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the Constitution prohibits the striking of a venire person on the basis of race or gender. State v. Rayfield, 369 S.C. 106, 631 S.E.2d 244 (2006); State v. Shuler, 344 S.C. 604, 545 S.E.2d 805 (2001). The proper procedure for a Batson hearing is set forth in State v. Adams, 322 S.C. 114, 470 S.E.2d 366 (1996) [citing Purkett v. Elem, 514 U.S. 765 (1995)]. After a party objects to a jury strike, the proponent of the strike must offer a facially race-neutral explanation. Once the proponent states a reason that is race-neutral, the burden is on the party challenging the strike to show the explanation is a mere pretext, either by showing similarly situated members of another race were seated on the jury or that the reason given for the strike is so fundamentally implausible as to constitute mere pretext despite a lack of disparate treatment. Adams, 470 S.E.2d at 371-72. The burden of persuading the court that a Batson violation has occurred remains at all times on the opponent of the strike. State v. Haigler, 334 S.C. 623, 515 S.E.2d 88 (1999).

“Typically, the decisive question becomes whether counsel’s race-neutral explanation for a peremptory challenge should be believed. . . . [T]here is seldom much evidence in the record bearing on that issue, and the trial court’s findings regarding purposeful discrimination necessarily will rest largely on the evaluation of demeanor and credibility of counsel. Therefore, those findings are given great deference and will not be set aside unless clearly erroneous.” State v. Cochran, 369 S.C. 308, 631 S.E.2d 294, 299-300 (Ct. App. 2006)[citing State v. Guess, 318 S.C. 269, 457 S.E.2d 6 (Ct. App. 1995)].

As the Supreme Court held in Payton v. Kears, 329 S.C. 51, 495 S.E.2d 205 (1998), the right to serve on a jury and not to be discriminated against because of race or gender belongs to the potential juror, not a litigant. This is so because a defendant has no right to trial by a particular jury. Adams, 470 S.E.2d at 373.

In the present case, Petitioner's assertion that the striking of five African-American jurors was not race neutral is without merit. Judge Young correctly found the State's striking of juror numbers 27, 136, 160, 197, and 225 was not pretextual. As the State explained at trial, each of the stricken jurors either had a criminal record or the State noted poor communication skills and reluctance to serve on the jury, among other reasons. App. pp. 44-49. Therefore, Judge Young's determination the State's reasons for the strikes were race-neutral and appropriate was not clearly erroneous, and would not have been disturbed on appeal. Edwards. Appellate Counsel was not ineffective in making a professional decision not raise a Batson issue in Petitioner's brief. As Appellate Counsel testified, he thought the *only* issue that would give Petitioner the best chance to win was the issue of self-representation. App. p. 950, lines 12-18. Therefore, certiorari should be denied as to this issue.

D. The PCR Court did not err in finding that Appellate Counsel was not ineffective in failing to raise the issue of bad faith on the part of the State and the North Charleston Police Department under Arizona v. Youngblood where the failure to preserve what Petitioner deemed to be exculpatory evidence was not in bad faith.

Petitioner asserts that a Due Process violation occurred because the blood observed at the crime scene was not collected and tested for DNA. Petitioner argues that this was done in bad faith, and that the North Charleston Police had destroyed possible exculpatory evidence in the case.

Unless a criminal defendant can show bad faith on the part of the police, failure to preserve potentially useful evidence does not constitute a denial of due process of law. Arizona v. Youngblood, 488 U.S. 51, 109 S.Ct. 333 (1988). If the court meant by this statement that the Due Process Clause is violated when the police fail to use a particular investigatory tool, we strongly disagree. The situation here is no different than a prosecution for drunken driving that

rests on police observation alone; the defendant is free to argue to the finder of fact that a breathalyzer test might have been exculpatory, but the police do not have a constitutional duty to perform any particular tests. Id.

In the present case, Petitioner at trial made a motion to dismiss claiming that the State destroyed exculpatory evidence from the crime scene. In particular, Petitioner referred to a curtain that was underneath the victim's body, and alleged that the crime scene was contaminated and evidence was destroyed. App. p. 320-321. Judge Young denied the motion, finding that the evidence Petitioner was referring to was not exculpatory evidence. App. p. 320, lines 10-18. Petitioner also argued at trial that blood smears that were found at the scene contained fingerprints. However, the crimes scene investigator who processed the scene testified that the smears were not bloody fingerprints and did not have any detail to them. App. p. 366-367. She further testified that she did not take the curtains from the bedroom that contained the blood smear because she was unable to identify if they were related the actual crime scene. App. p. 348

Petitioner presented no evidence at trial to support his allegations that the North Charleston Police Department contaminated or destroyed evidence which ultimately lead to his motion being denied. App. p. 349, lines 10-17. Thus, Youngblood does not apply to the factual situation in the case at bar. At the PCR hearing, Appellate Counsel testified that he did not recall an issue about blood and DNA testing. App. pp. 945, ln. 5-8. Petitioner could, and did, cross-examine the officers at trial as to any materials they did not collect from the crime scene and why. App. pp. 348-366. However, as previously stated Appellate Counsel is not required to raise every non-frivolous issue that is presented by the record. Thrift, 302 S.C. 535, 397 S.E.2d 523 (1990). It

was not ineffective for Appellate Counsel to make a strategic decision to exclude certain issues. Therefore, certiorari should be denied as to this issue.

E. The PCR Court correctly found Appellate Counsel was not ineffective for failing to raise a Neil v. Biggers issue where the Trial Court properly found the identification of Petitioner as the shooter was not unduly suggestive.

Petitioner contends Appellate Counsel rendered ineffective assistance because he failed to brief the raised and preserved issue of an unduly suggestive identification by the State's witness Corinda Snowden Williams. Trial courts employ a two-pronged inquiry to determine whether due process requires the suppression of an out-of-court eyewitness identification. State v. Liverman, 398 S.C. 130, 138, 727 S.E.2d 422, 425 (2012). First, the court must determine whether the identification resulted from "unnecessarily suggestive" police procedures. Neil v. Biggers, 409 U.S. 188, 198-99, 93 (1972). If the court finds the identification did not result from impermissibly suggestive police procedures, the inquiry ends there, and the court does not need to consider the second prong. State v. Dukes, 404 S.C. 553, 745 S.E.2d 137 (Ct. App. 2013). The defendant bears the burden of proving the identification procedure was impermissibly suggestive. Id. at 561. If the court finds, however, that the police used an impermissibly suggestive identification procedure, it must then determine whether the identification was nevertheless "so reliable that no substantial likelihood of misidentification existed." Liverman, 398 S.C. at 138, 727 S.E.2d at 425 (2012).

Petitioner argues the Biggers test, when applied to the facts of Petitioner's case, confirms Snowden's identification testimony should not have been allowed during trial. However, because Snowden was a friend of Petitioner's and had known him for several years, his identification was never in doubt, and the lineup was used merely to match the street name given with the correct person. Therefore, the trial court correctly admitted Snowden's identification of Petitioner as the

shooter, and Petitioner would not have prevailed on this issue at trial. This Court should therefore deny certiorari on this issue.

In this case, the State's key eye witness, Snowden, was shown a six-photo lineup after giving statements to the North Charleston Police Department identifying the shooter as "Sleezie," which was Petitioner's alias. Mrs. Snowden was certain of who Petitioner was because she had known him for years. App. 94, lines 21-25. She was not only present at the time of the shooting, but she saw Petitioner shoot and kill the victim. App. p. 97, lines 10-19; p. 98. She was able to provide the North Charleston Police Department with the Petitioner's nickname and when provided with the six-photo lineup, she identified Petitioner's photo as shooter. App. p. 100. Finally, the length of time between the crime and the identification attempt was not substantial. Mrs. Williams identified the Petitioner on the same day of the incident. App. p. 99. Therefore, the trial court correctly found the identification was not unduly suggestive, and Appellate Counsel was not ineffective in choosing not to raise a Biggers issue on appeal. Appellate counsel specifically testified at the evidentiary hearing that identification is a hard issue to win on appeal, but that he was sure there have been some cases. Therefore, certiorari should be denied as to this issue.

F. The PCR Court correctly found Appellate Counsel was not ineffective in declining to raise an issue regarding the denial of Petitioner's request for a voluntary manslaughter charge where the record does not support that such a charge was warranted. Additionally, because Petitioner has not offered any support for his argument and instead merely rests on conclusory allegations, he has abandoned this issue.

Petitioner argues that based on the evidence in the record there was a sudden heat of passion in this case, and Petitioner's request for a voluntary manslaughter request should have been granted.

Voluntary manslaughter is the unlawful killing of a human being in sudden heat of passion upon sufficient legal provocation. State v. Starnes, 388 S.C. 590, 698 S.E.2d 604 (2010). Both heat of passion and sufficient legal provocation must be present at the time of the killing in order to support a jury instruction on voluntary manslaughter in a murder prosecution. Id.

At the conclusion of his trial, Petitioner requested a voluntary manslaughter charge. App. pp. 662, ln. 4-5. However, the trial judge denied the request, noting no evidence had been presented to warrant such a charge being given to the jury. App. p. 664. Petitioner did not make any argument or direct the trial judge's attention to any evidence in the record that would tend to show his request was warranted and supported by the evidence presented at during the trial.

Additionally, Petitioner has wholly failed to argue why a voluntary manslaughter charge was necessary in this case or how the record support such a request. Petitioner merely argues that there was in fact evidence in the record to factually support the charge being given to the jury. PWC p. 23. Notably, however, he does not point to where in the record the supporting evidence exist, nor does he offer any supporting authority. Petitioner has simply concluded Appellate Counsel should have raised this issue on appeal, despite there being no evidence in the record to support that a voluntary manslaughter charge was appropriate in the case. Therefore, respondent submits Petitioner has abandoned this issue on appeal, and this Court should deny certiorari. See State v. Jones, 344 S.C. 48, 58, 543 S.E.2d 541, 546 (2001) (argument abandoned on appeal when conclusory and without supporting authority).

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, the Petition for a Writ of Certiorari should be denied. However, should this Court grant the Petitioner, Respondent requests permission to more fully brief the issues herein.